
From: Democratic Services Unit – any further information may be obtained from the reporting 
officer or from Paul Radcliffe, Scrutiny and Member Services Manager on 0161 342 2199 or by 
email paul.radcliffe@tameside.gov.uk with apologies or requests for futher information, to whom 
any apologies for absence should be notified.

VOICE OF THE CHILD OVERVIEW PANEL

Day: Wednesday
Date: 11 April 2018
Time: 6.00 pm
Place: Lesser Hall 1 - Dukinfield Town Hall

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page 
No

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2.  MINUTES 1 - 4

To approve as a correct record, the Minutes of the proceedings of the Voice of 
the Child Overview Panel held on 14 February 2018.

3.  VOICE OF A CHILD STRATEGY 5 - 24

The Panel to receive an update from Melissa Hopwood, Integrated Youth 
Manager, on the development and plans for the Voice of a Child Strategy.

4.  ACTIONS UPDATE 

The Panel to meet Sara Scholey, Head of Looked After Children Services; and 
David Lamb, Service Unit Manager, Looked After Children Services, to receive 
an update on planned work to deliver agreed actions.

5.  DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

To note that this is the last formal meeting of the Panel for the 2017/18 
municipal year.

6.  URGENT ITEMS 

To consider any additional items the Chair is of the opinion shall be dealt with 
as a matter of urgency.

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



Voice of the Child Overview Panel
14 February 2018

Commenced: 6.00pm

Terminated:  7.10pm

Present: Councillors T Smith (Chair), J Lane, Pearce, Sidebottom, M Smith, R Welsh

Apologies for absence: Councillor Peet

The Chair opened the minutes and received apologies.

21. MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting of the Voice of the Child Overview Panel held on 13 December 
2017 were approved as a correct record.

22. UPDATE ON OFSTED MONITORING VISIT

The Panel welcomed James Thomas, Director of Children’s Services, to provide an update on 
the Ofsted monitoring visit undertaken on 10 and 11 January 2018.  It was reported that the 
visit examined children in need of help and protection, with a focus on arrangements within the 
safeguarding and duty teams.

Mr Thomas informed members that all Ofsted judgements have been accurate and fair in their 
assessment.  Previous monitoring visits have commented that while services are improving in 
parts, that progress and pace needed to advance.  Prior to the monitoring visit on 10 and 11 
January 2018 a self-assessment document was submitted to Ofsted.  This was considered by 
Ofsted to be an accurate account and reflection of the current improvement position in 
Tameside.  

Progress was identified in a number of areas, which included the work undertaken to 
strengthen leadership and management arrangements across Children’s Services.  It was also 
identified that the support now going to newly qualified social workers had improved and that 
the regularity of supervisions had also got better.  Ofsted did however identify that while the 
frequency of management oversight and supervision was better the quality often varied and 
needed to improve further and become more consistent.

The monitoring visit identified that casework remains below the standard of where it needs to 
be, with common weaknesses in recording.  While effective social work interaction with 
children and families is taking place, this isn’t always reflected in recordings.  Casework 
reviewed during the visit did show some improvement in that children are being spoken to and 
what they say is recorded.

It was reported that the new improvement plan sets clearer expectations with regards to 
practice standards, what is expected and the voice and experiences of children has become 
an integral part of all contact, assessment and recording.  Managers and social workers 
demonstrate commitment to, and enthusiasm for, their work and feel more optimistic about 
progress because of recent developments.

With a more focused plan to improve outcomes for children it is now important to build 
stronger partnership arrangements and remove any current weaknesses within multi-agency 
working.  While most cases seen had information from schools, there was often an absence of 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



information from key agencies, such as health services and police.  This can result in parental 
needs often not being fully understood.

The Panel asked about workforce pressures within Children’s Services and if there is any work 
that needs to be undertaken quickly to build stability, confidence and a more sustainable 
approach to the recruitment and retention of social workers. 

Mr Thomas informed members that workforce planning remains a significant priority for the 
service and something which requires a significant amount of attention to address.  The 
improvement plan is now based on a more accurate understanding of the work required and 
there is a need to reduce the recruitment and turnover of locum staff.  Plans are now 
underway to develop a new recruitment campaign for social workers.

The Panel heard that demand on services is extremely high and around 20% above our 
statistical neighbours.  This is something that can be typical of services judged as inadequate 
and will require on-going attention with regards to decision making, partnerships, application of 
thresholds and assessment of risk.

It is positive that weaknesses are known and acknowledged by the service and that a 
progressive plan is now in place to address a range of issues going forward.  Members were 
also advised that during the monitoring visit Ofsted did not find any examples of children being 
at immediate risk or harm.

Resolved: That Mr Thomas be thanked for attending the meeting.

23. ACTIONS IDENTIFIED

The Chair reported that informal meetings which have been held with social workers and the 
Children in Care Council (2BeUs) have proved useful and allowed discussion to focus on the 
way services are delivered and to actively seek the experiences and views of children.

By concentrating on ‘voice of the child’ elements within the original Ofsted inspection and 
subsequent monitoring visits, the Panel has identified four areas where action is required.  
They include:
 The creation and development of a website for 2BeUs;
 Further work and commitment required to promote 2BeUs;
 The Council’s commitment to providing apprenticeship and work experience opportunities 

for children looked after;
 A useful and required resource (contacts card) for children looked after.  To include phone 

numbers and available support when a child’s social worker is unavailable, or during 
evening and weekend periods.

It was reported that the actions have been shared with Children’s Services and have been fully 
accepted.  It will now be the role and responsibility of services to ensure that plans are put in 
place to address and deliver each individual action.  It was also confirmed that the panel will 
now undertake a role to effectively monitor the progress of all actions.

Resolved: That the Panel receives routine and timely updates on the delivery plans and direct 
progress for all of the identified actions.

24. PROGRESS UPDATE

The Panel welcomed Sara Scholey, Head of Looked After Children Services, to provide an 
update on the work undertaken to address the agreed actions.

Page 2



Ms Scholey informed members that all actions have been accepted and work will now be 
planned and delivered by Children’s Services.  An update was provided on the creation of the 
new contacts card for looked after children, which is now being used.  The contacts card is 
included within a pack given to children when entering services and provides detail of contact 
and support telephone numbers.  Members were presented with a copy of the contacts card 
and informed that children have had a significant role in both its content and design.

Resolved: 

(1) That Ms Scholey be thanked for attending the meeting.

(2)That an electronic copy of the contacts card be emailed to panel members outside of the 
meeting.

(3) That the Panel receive a further progress update at the next meeting on 11 April 2018, to 
include all remaining actions.

25. DATE OF NEXT MEETING

To note that the next meeting of the Voice of the Child Overview Panel will take place on 
Wednesday 11 April 2018.

26. URGENT ITEMS

The Chair reported that there were no urgent items for consideration at this meeting.
CHAIR

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



STRATEGY
OF A CHILD

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 3



2

P
age 6



MISSION STATEMENT
“I am the expert in being me

You are the expert in your field
If we truly join forces and work together as equals

I can be a better me And you would be able to help more young 
people, which would make you a better you.”

VOICE OF A CHILD STRATEGY

3

P
age 7



Within Tameside we have for a number of years delivered participation 
forums that our children and young people can engage with in order to 
improve their lives and the local communities in which they live. This strategy 
outlines our vision for Voice of the Child within Tameside, its context and, 
crucially, what our vision and aims are and how we seek to achieve them. 

International and national legislation enshrines the rights of children and 
young people to participate in decisions about their own lives. 

Research shows supporting children and young people to make informed 
decisions about their own lives improves outcomes in terms of self-
confidence, social skills and positive life choices. For children and young 
people who experience the child protection system, participation is of 
particular importance. 

To this end this strategy and the statements of expectation within it, shows 
our commitment to hearing the voices of all children and young people in 
Tameside.

It brings together in a single approach how organisations will work together 
as a partnership to plan, deliver and improve the opportunities for children 
and young people to influence the services that matter to them.

This document sets out a voice strategy that is intended for everyone in 
Tameside working with children and young people. This strategy is also for 
people working directly with children and young people as well as those who 
commission or manage staff, services or organisations that support children 
and young people, and for organisations and partnerships whose work 
impacts upon children and young people. It is intended that all services can 
access this strategy and work towards its strategic aims. 

The strategy is primarily focused on improving the participation of children 
and young people, promoting a rights-based approach linked to United 
Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child. We also recognise that in many 
instances the involvement of parents and carers in participation activity is 
appropriate for service improvement and development. 

INTRODUCTION

4

P
age 8



This strategy intends to: 
 • Set out our vision and aims for voice of the child in Tameside.
 
 • Identify the good work already in place.

 •  Outline areas for further development and steps to achieve them. 

5

P
age 9



When we say the Voice of the Child, we mean talking to, listening to and 
engaging with what children and young people have to say about the service 
they receive, and using what they tell us to change and develop the way 
we work. This can be day-to-day, where practitioners make time to talk to 
children and young people individually and in an environment where they feel 
they can express their needs. However this can also take other forms, such 
as in groups or surveys, and can result in wider systemic change as well as 
informing care planning.

This strategy will cover three different ways of incorporating the voice of the 
child:

 • Individual level
 • Strategic level
 • Community level

WHAT DO WE MEAN BY THE
VOICE OF THE CHILD?

6

P
age 10



Individual:
Children and young people influence decisions made about their lives. The 
voice of the child on an individual level is where a child or young person 
is actively involved in the services that they need on a personal level. The 
Tameside Pledge to Looked After Children has promised to always listen to, 
involve and be honest with children about the plans being made about their 
life. This might include, for example, statutory orders like Child Protection 
Plans as well as other plans such as health, and personal education plans.

Strategic: 
Children and young people are actively involved in the wider improvement 
of the service. Using the Voice of the Child for wider service improvement is 
equally important to outcomes for looked after children and young people. 
This allows Children’s Services to be designed around the actual need 
articulated by children and young people rather than the perceived needs by 
adults working for them. It also helps to boost perceptions of the service, and 
the trust that the input of children and young people will be taken seriously.

7

P
age 11



Community: 
In addition, using the Voice of the Child provides Community improvement. 
Firstly, Speaking up about their needs equips children to be agents of change 
while they are in care, and to be active in the community as adults with high 
aspirations for their lives.

Collaboration between young people and the services they rely on (such as 
Children’s Services, Health, Education, Police, Housing etc.) will raise the 
profile of the benefits of participation and increases children’s trust with 
adults to act upon their desired outcomes.

Secondly using the Voice of the Child will raise awareness among all 
professionals who work with children of their right to have their voice heard. 
Participation should be seen as a meaningful ongoing process rather than a 
one-off event, and children and young people will not be dismissed as being 
too young to have valid opinions on the decisions made about them.

8

P
age 12



The Tameside Pledge is a set of promises written by our 
Children in Care Council, 2BeUs. It outlines the ways the 
Council and its partners will work to keep children who 
are looked after safe, healthy and happy, and achieve 
their goals. A core part of this Pledge is to listen to what 
children and young people want in order to have these 
things.

OUR VISION/AIMS

9

P
age 13



The refreshed Tameside Pledge has promised that we will:
  •  Always involve children in the decisions that will affect 

them

  •  Help children to stay in touch with people they consider to 
be important in their lives

  •  Keep children safe and help children to keep themselves 
safe

  • Help children achieve their potential

  • Help children prepare for independence and adult life

  • Listen to 2BeUs, our Children in Care Council

MUSIC &
ARTS

10

P
age 14



As part of the process to refresh the pledge we worked 
with a wider group of children and young people to ensure 
a broad range of feedback. This work empowered children 
and young people to create a set of 15 expectations 
that they feel all professionals should adopt. These are 
referred to as the “Statement of Expectations”.

11

P
age 15



STATEMENT OF EXPECTATIONS FROM CHILDREN AND YOUNG People
1.  If you say you are going to do something, DO IT. If it can’t happen then check back 

in with me and explain why.

2.  I won’t always agree with you, my views should be respected even if adults disagree 
with them.

3. Don’t make excuses; tell us honestly rather than being vague and unclear.

4.  Respect confidentiality, ask before sharing. We know there are times what we say 
has to be passed on, we ask that we are told that is going to happen and to whom 
the information is being passed.

5.  Young people’s wishes should be taken seriously. Why ask us what we think or 
want, if it has no influence on what happens. This builds false hope. Don’t ask our 
opinion if you have already made your decision, what would it change? I want to 
see, how what I have said, and influences the way forward.

6.  We are young not stupid, don’t patronize us. Our words should have the same 
weight as an adult. 

7. Difference doesn’t mean BAD or WRONG, embrace my differences.

8. Professionals should be knowledgeable and passionate about the topic.

9.  Young people want to know that the adult is qualified and relatable. We need to be 
able to build a valued relationship.

10.  Make commitments and appointments and stick to them. To cancel a meeting can 
lead to us thinking you don’t value us.

11.  Is the young person comfortable? If not do something about it! Think about the 
way to build a positive relationship.

12.  All adults should take on board young people’s concerns and ideas. Help us find 
the solution rather than impose your own on us.

13. Honesty is a good way to build trust.

14.  We are all unique, our problem is unique, and the solution should be unique! One 
size DOES NOT fit all.

15.  We need to be an equal partner in any relationship, we are as important as any 
adult.

12

P
age 16



as part of the Tameside Children’s Services Improvement Plan, we are looking to find out what children 
want out of the improvement proceSS, and they have told us they would like to see:

  •  More people to be available in the service and that they are 
easy to get to know and get in touch with.

  • Fewer changes of social worker.

  •  To get the right service at the right time if something 
happens.

  •  Everyone working with them to be aware of their role in 
safeguarding.

  •  All professionals working with young people have an 
agreed understanding of what “Voice of the child” means.

  • Support from specialists when needed.

  •  Caring foster carers, who know their children and what 
they need.

  •  Young people told us they want to know what they say will 
make a difference. If it hasn’t why is that?

  •  Young people felt that “Voice of the child” is a well meant 
phrase but young people express scepticism about the 
statement. 

13

P
age 17



To addreSS that Young people have created a “Statement of Expectation”. They would like to see this 
adopted acroSS all organisations and profeSSions that work with young people.

  •  A second document produced in a more young people 
friendly format, to empower young people to be able to see 
themselves within it.

  •  The document should be written to embrace all young 
people, as well as specific groups of young people.

14

P
age 18



Incorporating the voice of the child in practice and in strategic development has beneficial outcomes 
both for children and young people, and for the Children’s Services and its partners:

For children and young people:
  •  They have an increased understanding of organisations 

and how to access and influence them.

  •  The “Statement of Expectation” brings clarity for young 
people. This reassures young people to have an agreed 
common understanding of what to expect.

  •  There is better awareness of the rights of children looked 
after, and the responsibility of organisations that act as 
corporate parents.

  •  Children and young people to develop new skills and 
confidence while participating in service development.

  •  Children and young people feel more confident about, and 
see the benefits of speaking up. Children and young people 
are the experts in their own lives; they need their views 
and opinions to have the same weight as adults.

  •  Children and young people will have a foundation of 
expectations that crosses all organisations. Empowering a 
common understanding that is relevant to all will provide a 
great sense of joined up thinking.

  •  Young people will develop and deliver a training packing 
around the Statement of Expectations to deliver to 
professionals, to ensure a common understand of each 
principal.

15

P
age 19



For organisations:
  •  Better understanding and fresh perspective on providing 

for children looked after.

  •  Organisations can adopt the “Statement of Expectations”, 
developing a solid foundation to build upon with their staff 
but also as a way to measure their performance against.

  •  Services are more accountable to children and young 
people as they have a clear foundation of understanding 
that children and young people are saying is important to 
them.

  •  Services are more targeted/focused therefore more 
efficient.

  •  All services have a common framework to build upon, 
which enhances children and young people’s experience 
when working with multiple agencies.

16

P
age 20



Practitioners are able to make decisions that are informed by the views, 
wishes and feelings of children and young people in Tameside.

Access to training and resources will be available to practitioners from all 
services and staff such as social care, health, the police and education. The 
Statement of Expectation and the Tameside Pledge will be the platform for all 
training and resources. 

The Practice Standards for Children’s Social Care will outline the 
requirements of Social Workers when working with children and their 
families.

All professionals must be accountable to children and young people at 
every point of contact. There will be emphasis on the quality and frequency 
of recording the voice of the child in case files, so that practitioners can 
evidence that the wishes of the child are at the heart of the decisions that 
are made about them, and so that views about the quality of services can be 
collated and used for wider improvement.

HOW WIll WE ACHIEVE THIS?

17

P
age 21



Children and young people are helped to understand their legal entitlements.

Children need to be aware of their right to be heard and their right to affect 
what happens to them in order to be able to contribute effectively.  

For example, as well as having the opportunity to attend their meetings, 
children need to be given the right information about their rights in a way 
that they can understand.  Children that need additional support will be made 
aware of their right to an Independent Advocate should they need it. 

Advocacy seeks to ensure that some of our most vulnerable individuals have 
their views and wishes genuinely considered when decisions are being made 
about their lives. 

Children will be actively supported and listened to through the development 
of links and wider networks with other agencies.

A memorandum of understanding will be developed between existing youth 
groups such as the Children in Care Council, Youth Council and School 
Forums.  The Memorandum will help to formalise links between the different 
groups so that that are aware of each other, what they do and are able to talk 
to one another.

A Youth Participation Network will be created that makes it easy for children 
and young people to engage in a group that is relevant to them.  The Network 
will allow the memorandum of understanding to be put into practice and 
will work towards making the collective views of children and young people 
equal to that of any other professional organisation.

18

P
age 22



Actions Milestone Delivery 
Date Lead Outcomes/Performance Measure ProgreSS 

Update
Launch the Voice of the Child Strategy 
inc. Statement of Expectation.

Event is promoted and bookings are being 
taken via TSCB Online booking system.

March 2018 Emma Armitage All partner agencies sign up to, and practitioners routinely work 
to, the ‘Statement of Expectations’ when working with children 
and their families.

Deliver Voice of the Child Training 
x2 year as part of the TSCB Training 
Programme.

Young People develop the content of the 
training course.

Begin
April 2018

Andy McLean Practitioners work to the ‘Statement of Expectations’ when 
working with children and their families.

Develop and promote a suite of ‘good 
practice’ tools for practitioners to 
access.

Partners share their existing tools

Resources are available to access via the 
TSCB website

June 2018 Ged Sweeney Practitioners engage with children in a meaningful way that helps 
them to plan their support and intervention better.

Establish a Youth Participation Network 
that helps to connect the various youth 
forums together.

1st meeting in April 2018. April 2018 Melissa Hopwood & 
Laura 
Windsor-Welsh 

Children find it easier to find and access a youth forum that is 
relevant to them.

Youth Forums know what each other is doing, share good practice 
and key message, and have a greater collective influence.

Youth Participation Network write a 
memorandum of understanding that will 
exist between the various youth forums.

Youth Participation Network
meets for the 1st time in April. 

June 2018 Melissa Hopwood & 
Laura
Windsor-Welsh

Youth Forums know what each other is doing, share good practice 
and key message, and have a greater collective influence.

Check that the Tameside Pledge and 
Statement of Expectation are adhered to.

Performance Mgt and QA via TSCB inc;
• S.11 & Multi-Agency Audit
• Youth Participation Officer

Young People led review 12 months 
after the launch of the Voice of the Child 
Strategy.

August 2018

April 2019

TSCB QA Officer

TSCB QA Officer

Professionals have a good understanding of the daily lived 
experience of the children they support. 

Professionals know what children want to change and how and 
deliver services around the wishes of the children they work with.

VOICE OF THE CHILD DELIVERY PLAN

19

P
age 23



MISSION STATEMENT
“I am the expert in being me

You are the expert in your field
If we truly join forces and work together as equals

I can be a better me And you would be able to help more young 
people, which would make you a better you.”

20

P
age 24


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	3 VOICE OF A CHILD STRATEGY

